






















































































































































































































































































































First, the 11 Commerce Clause ... precludes 
the application of a state statute to 
commerce that takes place wholly outside of 
,the State's borders, whether or not the 
commerce has effects within the State[.]" 
Edgar v. MITE Corp., 457 U.S. 624, 642-43 
(1982) (plurality opinion); see also 
Brown-Forman Distillers Corp., 476 U.S. at 
581-83[.] ... Second, a statute that 
directly controls commerce occurring wholly 
outside the boundaries of a State exceeds 
the inherent limits of the enacting State's 
authority and is invalid regardless of 
whether the statute's extraterritorial reach 
was intended by the legislature. The 
critical inquiry is whether the practical 
effect of the regulation is to control 
conduct beyond the boundaries of the State. 
Brown-Forman Distillers Corp., 476 U.S. at 
579. Third, the practical effect of the 
statute must be evaluated not only by 
considering the consequences of the statute 
itself, but also by considering how the 

statute may interact with the 
legitimate regulatory regimes of other 
States and what effect would arise if not 
one, but many or every, State adopted 
similar legislation. Generally speaking, 
the Commerce Clause protects against 
inconsistent legislation arising from the 
projection of one state regulatory regime 
into the jurisdiction of another State. Cf. 
CTS Corp. v. Dynamics Corp. of America, 481 
u.s. 69, 88-89 (1987). 

The question before us, then, is whether Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7) has the practical effect of controlling 

commercial activity wholly beyond Virginia's borders. If so, it 

is per se invalid. See Cotto Waxo Co. v. Williams, 46 F.3d 790, 

793 (8th Cir. 1995) (holding that a state statute is per 

invalid under the Commerce Clause when it has an 

extraterritorial effect, "that is, when the statute has the 
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practical effect of controlling conduct beyond the boundaries of 

the· staten (citing Healy, 491 U.S. at 336)). 

For example, in Brown-Forman Distillers Corp., the Supreme 

Court held that a New York statute requiring liquor distillers 

to affirm that their posted in-state prices for the coming month 

were no higher than the prices that would be charged for the 

same products in other states during the· same month was per se 

·invalid under the Commerce Clause. 476 U.S. at 582-84. The 

Court found that the statute effectively controlled prices in 

other states because, once the prices had been posted in New 

York, a distiller could not lower its prices in any other state. 

Id. 

Similarly, in Healy, the Supreme Court struck down a 

Connecticut statute that required out-of-state beer shippers to 

affirm that the prices they charged in Connecticut were no 

higher than the lowest prices they charged for the same products 

in bordering states. 491 U.S. at 343. The Court held the 

statute to be unconstitutional because it had the impermissible 

practical effect of "controlling commercial activity wholly 

outside of" Connecticut. Id. at 337. The Court not only found 

that the statute controlled prices in neighboring states and 

interfered with the regulatory schemes in those states, but also 

observed that the enactment of similar legislation by several or 

all states would result in a ~·price gridlock. 11 Id. at 340. 

Such regional or national regulation of commercial activity, the 
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Court noted, is "reserved by the Commerce Clause to the Federal 

Government and may not be accomplished piecemeal through the 

extraterritorial reach of individual state statutes. 11 Id. 

The principles set forth in Healy and Brown-Forman 

Distillers Corp. are not limited to price-affirmation statutes. 

For instance, in NCAA v. Miller, 10 F.3d 633 (9th Cir. 1993), 

cert. denied, 511 u.s. 1033 (1994), the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit held that a Nevada statute that 

required the NCAA to provide different "procedural due process 

protections 11 in Nevada enforcement proceedings than it provided 

in enforcement proceedings in other states violated the Commerce 

Clause per se because it directly regulated interstate commerce. 

Id. at 640. Noting that the NCAA required uniform enforcement 

procedures to operate effectively, the Ninth Circuit held that 

the practical effect of the Nevada statute was to require the 

NCAA 11 to apply Nevada's procedures to enforcement proceedings 

throughout the country." Id. at 639. 11 In this way," the court 

noted, the Nevada statute "could control the regulation of the 

integrity of a product in interstate commerce that occurs wholly 

outside Nevada's borders." Id. The court further observed that 

other states had and could enact legislation establishing rules 

for NCAA proceedings. Id. This, the court found, put the NCAA 

"in jeopardy of being subjected to inconsistent legislation 

arising from the injection of Nevada's regulatory scheme into 

the jurisdiction of other states." Id. at 640. 
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In this case, Volkswagen relies on Healy, Brown-Forman 

Distillers Corp., and NCAA to support its claim that Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7) is per se invalid under the Commerce Clause 

because it has an impermissible extraterritorial effect. In our 

view, however, the cases cited are inapposite to our 

consideration of the instant statute because, unlike the 

statutes under consideration in those cases, Code § 46.2-1569(7) 

does not have a direct practical effect on interstate commerce. 

First, Code § 46.2-1569(7) does not have the practical 

effect of imposing direct controls on out-of-state commercial 

transactions, as did the price-control statutes in Brown-Forman 

Distillers Corp. and Healy. Nothing in the statute ties the 

number of.vehicles allocated to dealers in Virginia to the 

number of vehicles allocated to dealers in other states. Nor 

does the statutue otherwise regulate the number of vehicles a 

distributor may allocate in any other state. Moreover, the 

statute contains no directive, or even suggestion, that vehicle 

allocations in other states are to be conducted in accordance 

with Virginia's requirements. Indeed, it references no other 

states and imposes no mandates or restrictions on them. 

Likewise, Code § 46.2-1569(7) does not have the practical 

effect of directly interfering with regulatory procedures or 

schemes in other states, as did the statute in NCAA. In 

essence, Code § 46.2-1569(7) m~rely requires that a distributor 

provide to a dealer in Virginia a number of new vehicles that is 
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11 equitably related 11 to that distributor's national inventory and 

sales. It places no restrictions, either express~y or by its 

practical effect, on how a distributor may allocate vehicles in 

other states. Indeed, aside from requiring a just result, Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7) mandates no particular procedures or schemes for 

allocating new vehicles in Virginia. Thus, it cannot be said 

that the instant statute would force Volkswagen "to apply 

[Virginia's allocation] procedures ... throughout the 

country. 11 NCAA, 10 F. 3d at 639. 

Furthermore, despite Volkswagen's assertion to the 

contrary, the effect of similar statutes being enacted in other 

states would appear to be negligible. Certainly, the passage of 

statutes ~hat were truly similar to Code § 46.2-1569(7), in that 

they required a distributor's allocation of vehicles within the 

state to be "equitably" related to the distributor's national 

inventory and sales or simply to be "reasonable 11 or 11 fair, 11 

without mandating specific allocation requirements or 

procedures, would not result in distributors being subjected to 

inconsistent obligations to states, as in NCAA, or "price 

gridlock," as in Brown-Forman Distillers Corp. and Healy. We 

find nothing in the record that convinces us otherwise. 

Specifically, we find no evidence that the adverse effects on 
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interstate commerce asserted by Volkswagen would occur if 

similar legislation were passed in other states. 5 

Moreover, we are guided by the Supreme Court's rejection of 

a similar assertion in Exxon Corp. v. Maryland, 437 U.S. 117, 

128-29 (1978). In that case, the Court considered the validity 

of a Maryland statute prohibiting producers of petroleum from 

operating retail service stations within the state. Id. at 

119-20. Exxon and the other oil companies involved in the suit 

argued, inter alia, that the cumulative effect of other states 

passing legislation similar to Maryland's law would have serious 

implications on their national operations. Id. at 128. The 

Court responded to the appellants' argument as follows: 

• While this concern is a significant one, we 
do not find that the Commerce Clause, by its 
own force, pre-empts the field of retail gas 
marketing. To be sure, "the Commerce Clause 
acts as a limitation upon state power even 
without congressional implementation." Hunt 
v. Washington Apple Advertising Comm•n, 432 
U.S. 333, 350 (1977). But this Court has 
only rarely held that the Commerce Clause 
itself pre-empts an entire field from state 
regulation, and then only when a lack of 
national uniformity would impede the flow of 
interstate goods. See Wabash, St. Louis & 
Pacific Ry. Co. v. Illinois, 118 u.s. 557 

5 This is not to say, of course, that all statutes 
regulating the allocation of vehicles would have, if passed in 
several or all states, as inconsequential an effect on 
interstate commerce as the instant statute would. Indeed, we 
can imagine any number of possible allocation statutes whose 
cumulative effect on interstate commerce would, like the 
cumulative effects of the statues in NCAA, Brown-Forman 
Distillers Corp., and Healy, be problematic under the Commerce 
Clause. That is not the case before us, however. 
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(1886); see also Cooley v. Board of Wardens, 
53 U.S. 299, 319 (1851). The evil that 
appellants perceive in this litigation is 
not that the several States will enact 
differing regulations, but rather that they 
will all conclude that divestiture -
prov1s~ons are warranted. The problem thus 
is not one of national uniformity. In the 
absence of a relevant congressional 
declaration of policy, or a showing of a 
specific discrimination against, or 
burdening of, ·interstate commerce, we cannot 
conclude that the States are without power 
to regulate in this area. 

Id. at 128-29. 

Here, we are aware of, and Volkswagen offers, no relevant 

congressional declaration of policy that persuades us the 

Commerce Clause preempts a state from regulating the allocation 

of motor vehicles to the dealers in that state, particularly 

where, as here, that regulation would have only a negligible 

effect on interstate commerce if adopted by other states. 6 Nor 

6 To the contrary, the congressional declaration of policy 
that most closely relates to Code § 46.2-1569(7) would seem to 
suggest otherwise. In enacting the Automobile Dealers' Day in 
Court Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1221-25, in 1956, Congress clearly 
recognized the need for government to "redress the economic 
imbalance and unequal bargaining power between large automobile 
manufacturers and local dealerships, protecting dealers from 
unfair termination· and other retaliatory and coercive 
practices." Northview Motors, Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 
227 F.3d 78, 92 (3d Cir. 2000). The Act allows motor vehicle 
dealers to sue manufacturers or distributors with whom it has a 
franchise agreement for "failure to act in good faith in 
performing or complying with the franchise terms or in 
canceling, not renewing, or terminating the franchise ... 15 
U.S.C. § 1222. "The Act, however, does not protect dealers 
against all unfair practices, but only against those breaches of 
good faith 'evidenced by acts .of coercion or intimidation.'" 
Northview Motors, Inc., 227 F.3d at 93 {quoting Salco Corp. v. 
General Motors Corp., 517 F.2d 567, 573 (lOth Cir. 1975)). 
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has Volkswagen made a showing of a specific discrimination 

against, or burdening of, interstate commerce. 

Thus, we conclude that Code § 46.2-1569{7) does not have 

the practical effect of controlling commercial activity wholly 

beyond Virginia's borders. We hold, therefore, that 

Volkswagen's claim that the statute is per se invalid under the 

Commerce Clause because it directly regulates interstate 

commerce is without merit. Accordingly, we affirm the circuit 

court's ruling that Code § 46.2-1569{7) does not violate the 

Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. 

VI. SCOPE OF COMMISSIONER'S AUTHORITY 

Volkswagen contends the trial court, in affirming the 

cornmissidner's determination that Volkswagen violated Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7}, erred in ruling the commissioner did not exceed 

the scope of his authority in making that determination. 

Volkswagen maintains that, given Code § 46.2-1569(7) 's plain 

language, the determination of whether a distributor has 

violated the statute must be based, under the plain meaning rule 

of statutory construction, on the actual number of vehicles 

shipped by the distributor, rather than on the method of vehicle 

allocation used by the distributor. In other words, Volkswagen 

Limited thus, the Act cannot be read as preempting the 
distribution of motor vehicles within a state from state 
regulation. 
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continues, Code § 46.2-1569(7) regulates solely "the actual 

shipment of motor vehicles by a distributor, [not]. how the 

distributor decides to allocate vehicles." Consequently, 

Volkswagen claims, the commissioner may consider and evaluate 

only the number of vehicles received by a dealer, not the 

program used to allocate those vehicles. Hence, Volkswagen 

concludes, because the commissioner based his determination in 

this case on Volkswagen's vehicle allocation methodology rather 

than the specific numbers of vehicles Volkswagen allocated to 

Miller, he exceeded the scope of his statutory authority. We 

disagree. 

It would appear, at first glance, that Volkswagen's 

contention is correct. The first sentence of Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7) does indeed require that a distributor ship to a 

dealer "the number of new vehicles . . . needed by the dealer to 

receive a percentage of total new vehicle sales . . . equitably 

related to the total new vehicle production or importation 

currently being achieved nationally. 11 (Emphasis added.) 

However, as the circuit court correctly pointed out, 

Volkswagen's argument fails to take into account the plain 

meaning of the language of Code § 46.2-1569(7) that immediately 

follows the sentence quoted above upon which Volkswagen relies. 

The second sentence of Code § 46.2-1569(7) reads, "Upon the 

written request of any dealer ~olding its sales or sales and 

service franchise, the manufacturer or distributor shall 
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disclose to the dealer in writing the basis upon which new motor 

vehicles are allocated, scheduled, and delivered to the dealers 
, -

of the same line-make. 11 {Emphasis added.) Plainly, the 

language "basis upon which new motor vehicles are allocated 11 is 

intended to mean a distributor's method or system of vehicle 

allocation. 

In construing a statute, we are guided by the following 

well established principles: 

While in the construction of statutes 
the constant endeavor of the courts is to 
ascertain and give effect to the intention 
of the legislature, that intention must be 
gathered from the words used, unless a 
literal construction would involve a 
manifest absurdity. Where the legislature 
has used words of a plain and definite 

~ import the courts cannot put upon them a 
construction which amounts to holding the 
legislature did not mean what it has 
actually expressed. 

Floyd, Trustee v. Harding & als., 69 Va. {28 Gratt.) 401, 405 

{1877) . "If, in the application of these principles, the 

judiciary misconstrues legislative intent, the General Assembly 

can correct the error. 11 Fairfax Hosp. Sys. v. Nevitt, 249 Va. 

591, 597-98, 457 s~E.2d 10, 14 (1995). 

Applying these principles to the matter at hand, we 

conclude that, taken together, the plain meaning of the first 

two sentences of Code § 46.2-1569(7) reflects the intention of 

the legislature to give the commissioner the flexibility 

necessary to accurately determine whether a dealer has received 
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its fair share of vehicles from a distributor. Such 

flexipility, we believe, is in keeping with the statute•s 

remedial purpose' and the commissioner•s stated powers in this 

area, 8 and would allow the commissioner to 11 deal with [the] 

untold and unforeseen variations in factual situations 11 that 

might present themselves. 9 Boyce Motor Lines, Inc., 342 U.S. at 

340. We hold, therefore, that, in determining whether a 

distributor is in compliance with Code§ 46.2-1569(7), the 

commissioner may consider and base his determination on that 

7 As previously noted, Code § 46.2-1569(7) •s purpose is to 
assure that the dealers in Virginia get their fair share of new 
vehicles. 

8 11 The Commissioner shall promote the interest of the retail 
buyers of motor vehicles and endeavor to prevent unfair methods 
of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices. 11 Code 
§ 46.2-1501. Clearly, ensuring the fair allocation of new 
vehicles to dealers in Virginia promotes the interest of new-car 
buyers in Virginia. As we have previously held, 11 a state 
agency, •in addition to its statutorily granted powers ... has 
incidental powers which are reasonably implied as a necessary 
incident to its expressly granted powers for accomplishing [its] 
purposes. 11 Jackson v. W., 14 Va. App. 391, 399, 419 S.E.2d 385, 
390 (1992) (quoting Bader v. Norfolk Redev. & Hous. Auth., 10 
Va. App. 697, 702, 396 S.E.2d 141, 144 (1990)). 

9 For example, such flexibility might be necessary in cases 
where, for whatever reason, accurate vehicle distribution data 
is unavailable and the commissioner must rely on the 
distributor•s allocation formula to determine the number of 
vehicles allocated to a dealer. It might also be required in a 
case such as this where the commissioner finds a distributor has 
apparently increased its allocation of vehicles to a dealel.- only 
after learning the dealer has filed a request for a hearing 
before the commissioner. In such a case, the distributor's 
allocation methodology may be a more accurate reflection oL 
whether the dealer truly received its fair share of vehicles. 
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distributor's vehicle allocation methodology. Hence, contrary 

to Volkswagen's claim, the commissioner is not confined to 

examining only the actual number of vehicles allocated. 

Here, the hearing officer, after receiving evidence from 

the parties, much of which focused on Volkswagen's vehicle 

allocation system, found that Volkswagen's allocation method did 

not comply with Code § 46.2-1569(7) because it was based on a 

mathematical formula that unfairly penalized small-volume 

dealers like Miller. The hearing officer further found that 

Volkswagen was unable to show that its practice of adjusting 

vehicle allocations based on customer satisfaction scores or its 

policy of allowing the area executive to override the allocation 

formula was adequate to counter the formula's inherent flaw. 

Adopting the hearing officer's findings, the commissioner 

concluded that Volkswagen had violated Code § 46.2-1569(7). 

Having concluded that, in determining whether a distributor 

has complied with Code§ 46.2-1569(7), the commissioner may 

consider the distributor's method of allocation, we cannot say 

the commissioner exceeded the scope of his authority in this 

case, even though his determination that Volkswagen had violated 

Code § 46.2-1569(7) was based on Volkswagen's vehicle allocation 

methodology rather than the specific numbers of vehicles 

Volkswagen allocated to Miller. Accordingly, we affirm the 

circuit court's ruling that the commissioner did not exceed the 

scope of his authority. 
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VII. PROCEDURAL MATTERS AND BURDEN OF PROOF 

Volkswagen contends the trial court,. in affirming the 
, -

commissioner's. determination that Volkswagen violated Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7}, erred in rejecting Volkswagen's claims regarding 

three procedural errors alleged to have occurred before and 

during the formal evidentiary hearing conducted by the hearing 
, 

officer. We hold that the trial court did not so err and 

briefly address each claim below. 

A. Failure to Conduct an Informal Hearing 

Volkswagen contends the commissioner violated its due 

process rights when he failed to conduct an informal hearing or 

conference prior to the formal evidentiary hearing, as required 

by Code ~ 9-6.14:11 of the Virginia Administrative Process Act. 

Code § 9-6.14:11 provides that 11 agencies shall ascertain the 

fact basis for their decisions of cases through informal 

conference or consultation proceedings unless the named party 

and the agency consent to waive.such a conference or proceeding 

to go directly to a formal hearing ... 

Assuming, without deciding, that the Virginia 

Administrative Process Act is applicable to proceedings arising 

under Code § 46.2-1569(7), as Volkswagen claims, 10 we hold that 

10 The commissioner and Miller argue at length in their 
respective briefs that such proceedings are not subject to the 
Virginia Administrative Process Act. Given our decision in this 
matter, we need not decide that issue here. 
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Volkswagen is barred from asser~ing this challenge on appeal 

because it was not preserved below. 

As the circuit court observed, nothing in the record of 

this c~se indicates that Volkswagen requested such a hearing or 

raised an objection before the commissioner. "An appellant, 

under the provisions of the [Virginia Administrative Process 

Act], may not raise issues on appeal from an administrative 

agency to the circuit court that it did not submit to the agency 

for the agency's consideration." Pence Holdings, Inc. v. Auto 

Center, Inc., 19 Va. App. 703, 707, 454 S.E.2d 732, 734 (1995); 

see Rule 5A:18. 

Thus, having failed to raise this issue before the 

commissioner, Volkswagen is precluded from raising it on appeal. 

Moreover, the record reflects no reason to invoke the good cause 

or ends of justice exceptions to Rule SA:18. 

B. Lack of Notice 

Volkswagen contends the hearing officer and, thus, the 

commissioner, violated its due process rights by (1) failing to 

provide notice of the factual or legal basis of the charges 

against it, (2) allowing Miller to alter the basis of its 

complaint after the hearing had commenced, and (3) changing his 

interpretation of Code § 46.2-1569(7) during the course of the 

evidentiary hearing. Volkswagen argues that, because of these 

procedural defects, it "was forced to defend itself with no 

notice of the claims which could be advanced." We disagree. 
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"'Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural 

protections as the particular situation demands.'" Duncan v. 

ABF Freight System, Inc., 20 Va. App. 418, 422, 457 S.E.2d 424, 

426 (1995) (quoting Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 334 

(1976)). 11 ' [T]he fundamental requisite of due process of law is 

the opportunity to be heard.'" Id. at 423, 457 S.E.2d at 426 

(quoting Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 267 (1970)). 

"An elementary and fundamental requirement 
of due process in any proceeding which is to 
be accorded finality is notice reasonably 
calculated, under all the circumstances, to 
apprise interested parties of the pendency 
of the action and afford them an opportunity 
to present their objections. The notice 
must be of such nature as reasonably to 
convey the required information, and it must 
afford a reasonable time for those 

~ interested to make their appearance. But if 
with due regard for the practicalities and 
peculiarities of the case these conditions 
are reasonably met, the constitutional 
requirements are satisfied." 

Oak Hill Nursing Home, Inc. v. Back, 221 Va. 411, 417, 270 

S.E.2d 723, 726 (1980) (quoting Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank 

& Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314-15 (1950) (citations omitted)). 

Here, the hearing in this matter was convened at Miller's 

request pursuant to its complaint to the commissioner dated 

February 9, 1998, specifically alleging that Volkswagen had 

violated Code § 46.2-1569(7). The complaint, which was also 

sent to Volkswagen, referenced Volkswagen's allocation of 

vehicles on the basis of customer satisfaction surveys as being 

a violation of that statute and requested that Volkswagen 
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disclose to the dealer the 11 basis upon which new vehicles [were] 

allocated ... Following unsuccessful mediation, Miller notified 

the commissioner and Volkswagen, by letter dated April 2, 1998, 

that it had yet to receive a Passat or Beetle from Volkswagen 

and that Volkswagen would also need to disclose its "formula for 

allocation used since 1993." 

On these facts, we conclude that Volkswagen was given 

notice that was "reasonably calculated, under all the 

circumstances, to apprise [Volkswagen] of the pendency of the 

action and afford [it] an opportuni~y to present [its] 

objections." We hold, therefore, that Volkswagen had adequate 

notice of the factual and legal basis of the charges against 

which it~had to defend itself and was not denied its rights of 

due process with regard to notice. With regard to Volkswagen's 

other due process claims, we find no evidence in the record that 

Miller altered the basis of its complaint after the hearing had 

commenced or that the hearing officer changed his interpretation 

of Code § 46.2-1569(7) during the course of the hearing. 

Accordingly, Volkswagen's due process challenge must fail. 

C. Misplacement of Burden of Proof 

Volkswagen contends the hearing officer and, thus, the 

commissioner, erred by improperly placing the burden of provins_1 

compliance with Code § 46.2-1569(7) on Volkswagen. We disagree. 

Clearly, as indicated in his proposed decision, the hPaJ :i.n·;_: 

officer placed a 11 burden of proof" on Volkswagen. That 
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11 burden, 11 however, was not the burden, as Volkswagen 

characterizes it, of proving compliance with Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7). Rather, it was, as initially referred to by the 

hearing officer, the 11 opportunity to rebut" Miller's evidence, 

which established that the formula used by Volkswagen to 

allocate vehicles violated Code § 46.2-1569{7) because it 

unfairly penalized small-volume dealers. 

After addressing the formula's inherent bias against 

small-volume dealers, the hearing officer turned his attention 

to the two programs purportedly implemented by Volkswagen to 

offset the formula's inequities. Finding that Volkswagen's 

program allowing for the adjustment of vehicle allocations based 

on customer satisfaction survey scores only added to the adverse 

effect of the formula, the hearing officer concluded that 

Volkswagen "did not carry its burden of proof to show that 

utilization of [the customer satisfaction survey program] as a 

governor on the allocation system was fair and equitable." 

Turning then to Volkswagen's other purportedly remedial 

program-assuring that each dealer had in stock at least one 

vehicle of every model (referred to as a "safety valve")-the 

hearing officer stated as follows: 

Nevertheless, even if this "safety 
valve" was shown to be an integral part of 
the allocation methodology, [Volkswagen] has 
not carried its burden to show that the 
change relying on this "safety valve" is 
adequate to remedy the allocation 
shortcomings. Specifically, there was 
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insufficient evidence presented by 
[Volkswagen] to show that its allocation 
methodology was in compliance with [Code 
§] 46.2-1569 (7) IT 

Volkswagen misapprehends the hearing officer's statements 

regarding Volkswagen's burden of proof. We find that, read in 

their proper context, the statements plainly indicate that the 

hearing officer, having determined that Volkswagen's core 

allocation formula did not comply with Code§ 46.2-1569(7), gave 

. Volkswagen the opportunity to show that its supplemental 

allocation programs cured the formula's defects. Finding 

Volkswagen's evidence and arguments lacking, the hearing officer 

concluded that Volkswagen did not carry its burden on rebuttal. 

Such a burden, we hold, was properly placed. 

Moreover, the hearing officer pointed out in his decision 

that he conducted a pre-hearing telephone conference with 

counsel for the parties, during which the format of the hearing 

and the parties' respective burdens of proof were discussed. 

During that discussion, it was agreed that Volkswagen would be 

given the opportunity at the hearing "to rebut 11 following 

Miller's presentation of evidence and argument on the 

noncompliance of Volkswagen's allocation methodology. All 

counsel, the hearing officer noted, agreed to the proposed 

format, and that format was followed at the hearing. Thus, 

having agreed to the format that was followed at the hearing, 
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Volkswagen cannot now be heard to complain of such alleged 

defects in that proceeding. See Manns v. Commonwealth, 13 

Va. App. 677, 680, 414 S.E.2d 613, 615 (1992) (holding that a 

party may not take advantage of an error it invited). 

VIII. CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, we affirm the circuit court•s ruling 

that Volkswagen's method of allocating its newly manufactured 

motor vehicles to Miller violated Code § 46.2-1569(7). 

Accordingly, with respect to Volkswagen's appeal, we affirm the 

judgment of the circuit court. 

Additionally, having granted the commissioner's motion to 

dismiss this appeal for lack of jurisdiction as to the 

unresolved issue of the remedy to be imposed, we dismiss 

Miller's cross-appeal. 

A Copy, 

Teste: 
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Benton, J., concurring. 

I concur in the majority opinion; however, I write 

separately to state my understanding that Part VI of the 

majority opinion interprets Code § 46.2-1569(7) in a fashion 

that clearly renders it immune from an attack that it is 

unconstitutionally vague and violates the Commerce Clause. 

Although, as the majority opinion notes, Code 

§ 46.2-1569(7} facially suggests that a determination of "the 

number of new vehicles" drives the analysis, when read as a 

whole, the statute reflects a policy that a dealer is to receive 

a fair share of vehicles being produced or imported nationally 

by the manufacturer. The statute provides as follows: 

Notwithstanding the terms of any 
franchise agreement, it shall be unlawful 
for any manufacturer, factory branch, 
distributor, or distributor branch, or any 
field representative, officer, agent, or 
their representatives: 

* * * * * * * 

?. To fail to ship monthly to any 
dealer, if ordered by the dealer, the number 
of new vehicles of each make, series, and 
model needed by the dealer to receive a 
percentage of total new vehicle sales of 
each make, series, and model equitably 
related to the total new vehicle production 
or importation currently being achieved 
nationally by each make, series, and model 
covered under the franchise. Upon the 
written request of any dealer holding its 
sales or sales and service franchise, the 
manufacturer or distributor shall disclose 
to the dealer in wri~ing the basis upon 
which new motor vehicles are allocated, 
scheduled, and delivered to the dealers of 
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the same line-make. In the event that 
allocation is at issue in a request for a 
hearing, the dealer may demand the 
,Commissioner to direct that the manufacturer 
or distributor provide to the dealer, within 
thirty days of such demand, all records of 
sales and all records of distribution of all 
motor vehicles to the same line-make dealers 
who compete with the dealer requesting the 
hearing. 

Code § 4 6 . 2 - 15 6 9 ( 7 ) . 

As I read·the statute, it requires that the allocation of 

. vehicles within Virginia be based on a methodology which 

considers new vehicle sales and equitably relates in some manner 

the dealer's percentage of those sales to the manufacturer's 

national production or importation. Thus, as the majority 

opinion "hold[s], . in determining whether a distributor is 

in cornplian.ce with Code § 46.2-1569 (7), the commissioner may 

consider and base his determination on the distributor's vehicle 

allocation methodology." If that allocation methodology 

rationally takes into account new vehicle sales and results in a 

dealer receiving a fair share of new vehicles, the statutory 

mandate has been satisfied. This reading of the statute 

resolves what appears to me to be an ambiguity in connecting in 

a rational manner the various phrases in the statute. 

The record establishes that Volkswagen's area executive 

often made allocations as frequently as each week and, thus, 

applied Miller's sales percentage factor to a smaller number of 

vehicles than would have been used if done monthly. The rc::'::oo:c.:l 
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supports the commissioner's finding that by making allocations 

as frequently as each week, Volkswagen's formula determined that 

the percentage of the pool of available new vehicles 

representing Miller's potential allocation was a "fractional 

vehicle 11 of less than one. Because those fractional values were 

rounded down and not cumulated, Miller "was effectively frozen 

out on a repeated basis from acquiring vehicles in short 

supply. 11 The commissioner also found that Volkswagen's 

allocation methodology was skewed by the use of a customer 

satisfaction program that impacted the vehicle allocation in a 

"punitive and inequitable" manner. The commissioner further 

found that Volkswagen's decision to allow its area executive the 

discretion to override the allocation methodology to remedy 

these deficiencies was 11 a rule honored only when Miller 

requested [an administrative] hearing." The record supports 

these findings and the commissioner's decision that Volkswagen's 

methodology of allocation failed to provide Miller with an 

equitable and fair number of those vehicles that were in short 

supply. 

For these reasons, I concur in the majority opinion's 

holding and in the judgment. 

A Copy, 
Tes 

By: 
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VIRGINIA: 

day of September, 2002. 

Volkswagen of America, Inc., 

against Record No. 1947-01-2 
Circuit Court No. HK-1639-1 

.Asbury w. Quillian, Commis~ioner 
· · · of Virginia Department .a·( ~otor Vehicles 

and Miller Auto Sales, Inc., 

From the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond 

17th 

Appellant, 

Appellees. 

Before Judges Benton, Clements and Senior Judge Coleman 

For reasons stated in writing and filed with the record, 

the commissioner's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction as it 

relates to appellant's breach of Code § 46.2-1569(7) is denied and 

the circuit court's judgment that the commissioner correctiy 

determined that appellant violated Code § 46.2-1569(7) is affirmed. 

The appellant shall pay to the appellees thirty dollars damages. 

The Court is further of opinion that, because the circuit 

court remanded the· issue of remedy to the commissioner for further 

resolution, the order with regard to that issue is neither a final 

appealable order nor adjudicates the principles of the cause. 

Accordingly, the Court grants the commissioner's motion to dismiss 

for lack of jurisdiction as it relates to the remedy to be imposed 
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,I 

for a breach of Code§ 46.2-1569(7), and the cross-appeal of Miller 

Auto Sales is dismissed. 
-. 

This order shall be certified to the trial court. 

A Copy, 

Teste: 

.-----~~""'*"'· a--L-McGoy;-e:J:~~-. 
This mandate of the Court of Appeals of 

By Virginia has not yet been certified to 
the tria~ court, pursuant to Ru~e 5A:31. 
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VIRGINIA: 
CLil~Jt 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF VIRG «;QUffT 
0

' APPEALS OF. VIRGIN~.\ 
At Richmond 

VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC., 
a corporation organized and existing under 
the laws of the State ofNew Jersey, 

Appellant, 

v. 

ASBURY W. QUILLIAN, 
Commissioner of the Virginia Department of 
Motor Vehicles, 

and 

MILLER AUTO SALES, INC., 
a corporation organized and existing under 
the laws of the State ofNew Jersey, 

Appellees. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Record No. 1947-01-2 

NOTICE OF APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF VIRGINIA 

Pursuant to Rule 5:14 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia, Volkswagen of 

America, Inc, appellant herein, hereby appeals the Opinion and Final Decision of this Court 

entered on September 17, 2002 to the Supreme Court of Virginia. 

CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned certifies as follows: 

1. The name and address ofthe appellant is: 

Volkswagen of America, Inc. 
c/o Deborah Kingsbury, General Counsel 
3800 Hamlin Road 
Auburn Hill, Michigan, 48326 
(248) 340-5000 
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2. The names, addresses and telephone numbers of counsel for the appellant is: 

Douglas M. Palais, Esquire (VSB #19460) 
Brian L. Buniva, Esquire (VSB # 18628) 
LeClair Ryan 
A Professional Corporation 
707 East Main Street 
Eleventh Floor 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804-783-2003 

3. The names and addresses of appellees are: 

Asbury W. Quillian, Commissioner 
Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles 
2300 West Broad Street 
P. 0. Box 27412 
Richmond, Virginia 23269-0001 
(804) 367-6605 

James R. Vogler, Esquire 
Randall L. Oyler, Esquire 
Steven Yatzin, Esquire 
Barack Ferrazzano Kirschbaum 
Perlman & Nagelberg 
333 West Wacker Drive 
Suite2700 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
(312) 984-3100 

Miller Auto Sales, Inc. 
3985 Valley Pike 
Winchester, Virginia 22602 
(540) 869-5000 

4. The names addresses and telephone numbers of counsel for appellees are: 

Ricliard L. Walton, Jr. 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General 
900 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23 219 
(804) 786-2071 
Counsel for Appellee DMV Commissioner Holcolmb 

And 

Bradley D. Weiss, Esq. 
Charapp, Deese & Weiss, LLP 
2201 West Broad Street 
Suite 201 
Richmond, Virginia 23220 
(804)786-1582 

Bradley D. Weiss, Esq. 
Charapp, Deese & Weiss, LLP 
1901 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 1001 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 463-9100 

Counsel for Appellee Miller Auto Sales, Inc. 

5. A copy of this Notice of Appeal has been mailed to all opposing counsel and hand­
delivered to the Clerk of the Court of Appeals this 15th day of October, 2002. 
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-. 

Douglas M. Palais, Esquire (VSB # 19460) 
Brian L. Buniva, Esquire (VSB # 18628) 
LeClair Ryan 
A Professional Corporation 
707 East Main Street, Eleventh Floor 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 783-2003 
Facsimile: (804) 916-7223 

VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC. 

By ~L/.L.~:-
counsel 

3 

178 



ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The lower courts erred by ruling that the Statute is compliant with the Commerce 
Clause of the United States Constitution, despite the fact that the practical effects of the Statute 
are to regulate what Volkswagen does outside of Virginia and to create the possibility of 
inconsistent state regulation ofVolkswagen's business. 

2. The lower courts erred by ruling that the Statute is compliant with the Due 
Process Clauses of the United States and Virginia Constitutions, despite the fact that the Statute 
fails to provide fair warning that it regulates vehicle allocation methodologies; rather than 
vehicle shipments, or fair warning about what practices the Commonwealth deems to be 
inequitable. 

3. The lower courts erred by ruling that the Commissioner acted within the scope of 
his statutory authority, despite the fact that he interpreted his enabling statute in a manner 
inconsistent with its plain language. 

4. The .lower courts erred by ruling that the Commissioner gave Volkswagen 
adequate notice of the factual and legal bases of the charges against it, despite the fact that the · 
Commissioner never gave Volkswagen appropriate notice of the charges against it and failed to 
provide Volkswagen with the informal hearing mandated by the Virginia Administrative Process 
Act, as in effect at the time of the hearing below. 

5. The lower courts erred by ruling that the Commissioner properly allocated the 
burden of proof in this matter, despite the fact that the Commissioner placed the burden upon the 
respondent, Volkswagen. 
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